#### **FILED**

Apr 21, 2016

Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington



## No. 33810-0-III

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

# Charles Fletcher,

Appellant.

Spokane County Superior Court Cause No. 11-1-02625-7
The Honorable Judge Salvatore Cozza

# **Appellant's Opening Brief**

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Attorneys for Appellant

#### **BACKLUND & MISTRY**

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

##

#### **ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. The trial judge erred by refusing to appoint counsel upon receipt of Mr. Fletcher's motion for appointment of counsel.

**ISSUE 1:** An indigent patient detained pursuant to RCW 10.77 is entitled to the assistance of appointed counsel at "any and all stages of the proceedings..." Did the trial court err by refusing to appoint counsel upon Mr. Fletcher's request?

- 2. The trial judge erred by failing to direct the secretary to develop a recommendation upon receipt of Mr. Fletcher's petition for conditional release.
- 3. The trial judge erred by summarily refusing Mr. Fletcher's petition for conditional release.
- 4. The trial judge erred by failing to schedule a hearing on Mr. Fletcher's petition for conditional release.

**ISSUE 2:** The secretary of DSHS is obligated to develop a recommendation upon receipt of a petition for conditional release. Did the trial court err by summarily refusing Mr. Fletcher's petition for conditional release instead of scheduling a hearing and directing the secretary to develop a recommendation for the court?

5. The Court of Appeals should decline to impose appellate costs, should Respondent substantially prevail and request such costs.

**ISSUE 3:** If the state substantially prevails on appeal and makes a proper request for costs, should the Court of Appeals decline to impose appellate costs because Mr. Fletcher is indigent?

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

On September 1, 2015, Charles Fletcher sought conditional release from Eastern State Hospital, where he is detained pursuant to a Judgment and Order of Acquittal by Reason of Insanity. CP 4-5, 10-11. He provided copies of his petition (captioned "Motion for Conditional Release and for Appointment of Public Defender") to Eastern State Hospital and to the Prosecuting Attorney's office. –CP 10-11.

Rather than addressing the petition, the trial court judge directed Mr. Fletcher to apply to the Secretary of DSHS pursuant to RCW 10.77.150. The court would not consider appointing counsel or scheduling a hearing until after Mr. Fletcher had done so. CP 6. The court included a copy of RCW 10.77.150 in its letter to Mr. Fletcher.

Mr. Fletcher appealed. CP 15. Following briefing and a hearing on the issue of appealability, a Court of Appeals commissioner granted discretionary review. Commissioner's Ruling, p. 3.

#### ARGUMENT

- I. THE TRIAL JUDGE SHOULD HAVE APPOINTED COUNSEL, DIRECTED THE SECRETARY TO DEVELOP A RECOMMENDATION, AND SCHEDULED A HEARING ON MR. FLETCHER'S REQUEST FOR CONDITIONAL RELEASE.
- A. The trial court should have appointed counsel for Mr. Fletcher.

  An indigent person detained pursuant to RCW 10.77 is entitled to the assistance of appointed counsel at "any and all stages of the proceedings." RCW 10.77.020(1).

Upon receipt of Mr. Fletcher's "Motion...for Appointment of Public Defender," the trial court was obligated to appoint counsel. RCW 10.77.020(1). Instead, the court refused to even consider appointing counsel until after Mr. Fletcher had applied to the secretary for conditional release pursuant to RCW 10.77.150. CP 6.

Mr. Fletcher was entitled to the appointment of counsel at "any and all stages of the proceedings." RCW 10.77.020(1). The court should have appointed counsel.<sup>1</sup>

The lower court's decision refusing to appoint counsel must be reversed. The case must be remanded for appointment of counsel pursuant to RCW 10.77.020(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As noted in the Commissioner's Ruling, "Without counsel here, Mr. Fletcher had no one to assist him to apply to the Department for conditional release, as the superior court directed him to do." Ruling, p. 3.

B. The trial court should have scheduled a hearing and directed the secretary to develop a recommendation.

A person detained pursuant to RCW 10.77 may seek conditional release by petitioning the court. RCW 10.77.200(5). Upon receipt of the petition, the secretary is obligated to develop a recommendation for the court. RCW 10.77.200(5). Furthermore, the statute contemplates a "proceeding" at which

[t]he issue to be determined...is whether the patient, as a result of a mental disease or defect, is a substantial danger to other persons, or presents a substantial likelihood of committing criminal acts jeopardizing public safety or security, unless kept under further control by the court or other persons or institutions.

RCW 10.77.200(5).

Upon receipt of Mr. Fletcher's petition, the trial judge should have scheduled a hearing and ordered the secretary to develop a recommendation. RCW 10.77.200(5). Instead of doing so, the court incorrectly directed Mr. Fletcher to apply to the secretary for conditional release pursuant to RCW 10.77.150.<sup>2</sup>

The trial judge erred by refusing to order a hearing and by failing to direct the secretary to develop a recommendation. RCW 10.77.200(5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> That statute provides an alternate mechanism for conditional release; however, it is not the exclusive mechanism available to patients. *See* RCW 10.77.200(5) ("Nothing contained in this chapter shall prohibit the patient from petitioning the court for release or conditional release.")

The problem was compounded by the court's failure to appoint counsel to assist Mr. Fletcher, as argued above. RCW 10.77.020(1).

The trial court's error requires reversal and remand, with instructions to schedule a hearing and to direct the secretary to develop a recommendation. RCW 10.77.200(5). In addition, as argued above, the court must appoint trial counsel to assist Mr. Fletcher in pursuing conditional release. RCW 10.77.020.

# II. IF THE STATE SUBSTANTIALLY PREVAILS, THE COURT OF APPEALS SHOULD DECLINE TO AWARD ANY APPELLATE COSTS REQUESTED.

At this point in the appellate process, the Court of Appeals has yet to issue a decision terminating review. Neither the state nor the appellant can be characterized as the substantially prevailing party. Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals has indicated that indigent appellants must object in advance to any cost bill that might eventually be filed by the state, should it substantially prevail. *State v. Sinclair*, -- Wn. App. --, 367 P.3d 612 (2016).<sup>3</sup>

Appellate costs are "indisputably" discretionary in nature.

Sinclair, 367 P.3d 612. The concerns identified by the Supreme Court in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Division II's commissioner has indicated that Division II will follow *Sinclair*. Division III has yet to decide the issue.

Blazina apply with equal force to this court's discretionary decisions on appellate costs. State v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 344 P.3d 680 (2015).

The trial court found Mr. Fletcher indigent for purposes of appeal. CP 24-25. That status is unlikely to change, given his ongoing confinement at Eastern State Hospital. CP 6. The *Blazina* court indicated that courts should "seriously question" the ability of a person who meets the GR 34 standard for indigency to pay discretionary legal financial obligations. *Id.* at 839

If the state substantially prevails on this appeal, this court should exercise its discretion to deny any appellate costs requested.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, the trial court's decision must be reversed. The case must be remanded for appointment of counsel, with instructions to schedule a hearing and to direct the secretary to develop a recommendation regarding Mr. Fletcher's request for conditional release.

If Respondent substantially prevails, the Court of Appeals should decline to impose appellate costs in light of Mr. Fletcher's indigency.