### **FILED**

June 17, 2016

33810-0-III

Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

### **COURT OF APPEALS**

### **DIVISION III**



### OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

٧.

### CHARLES FLETCHER, APPELLANT

### APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

### OF SPOKANE COUNTY

### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

LAWRENCE H. HASKELL Prosecuting Attorney

JAMES H. KAUFMAN, WSBA #7836 Sr. Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Spokane County Prosecutor's Office 1115 West Broadway, 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor Spokane, Washington 99201 Phone: (509) 477-5764 Facsimile: (509) 477-3672

Facsimile: (509) 477-3672

JKaufman@spokanecounty.org

### **

### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 28, 2013, Appellant was found not guilty by reason of insanity pursuant to RCW 10.77.080 by Honorable Salvatore F. Cozza, Superior Court Judge. Findings of Fact and the appropriate Judgment of Acquittal and Order requiring Appellant to go to Eastern State Hospital ("ESH") were entered that day. (CP 1-5)

Thereafter, Appellant remained at ESH, never petitioning for a Conditional Release and never qualifying for a Conditional Release

under RCW 10.77.150(3)(a) until on or about September 1, 2015, when Appellant prepares and forwards to Judge Cozza a document entitled "Motion for Conditional Release and for Appointment of Public Defender" which appears to have been received on September 4, 2015. (CP 11, 14) Apparently, a form "Certificate of Indigency" on a Public Defender pleading was also sent to Judge Cozza. (CP 12-13)<sup>1</sup>

On September 10, 2015, Judge Cozza responded. (CP 6, 17) In that response Judge Cozza aptly noted: (1) he had received Appellant's letter requesting a hearing to consider Conditional Release; (2) he attached the relevant statute RCW 10.77.150 (CP7-8); (3) he indicated the first step was for Appellant to apply to the Secretary of DSHS; and (4) notified Appellant the Court can consider appointment of counsel and whether a hearing is necessary once the application to the Secretary of DSHS was made.

Thereafter, with nothing in this record to suggest Appellant made any attempt to follow Judge Cozza's September 10, 2015, letter

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Interestingly enough, those documents which are part of the Clerk's Papers do not show being filed-stamped in Court File 11-1-02625-7. The Pleadings appear incomplete.

to him, Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal (CP 15-16) and an Order of Indigency was entered by Judge Cozza (CP 24-25).

Appellant's case was then placed on a calendar to determine whether this appeal was as a matter of right or for Discretionary Review pursuant to RAP 2.3. On March 15, 2015, the Appellate Commissioner granted review on the issue of appointment of counsel under RAP 2.3(b)(3), but otherwise held under the authority of *State v. Howland*, 180 Wn. App. 196, 321 P.3d 303 (2014) that the matter was not directly reviewable as a matter of right and that RCW 10.77.150 was a more specific statute than RCW 10.77.200 and applied in the case at bar.<sup>2</sup>

Neither side sought further review of that decision by way of RAP 17.7, and this appeal ensued.

Appellant also suggests if this appeal is unsuccessful, he not be required to pay costs under *State v. Sinclair*, 192 Wn. App. 380, 367 P.3d 612 (2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Court Commissioner Wasson's Ruling filed March 15, 2016, pages 2-3.

### III. ARGUMENT

A. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY RESERVING THE APPOINTMENT OF COUNSEL UNTIL THE COURT DETERMINES WHETHER A HEARING FOR CONDITIONAL RELEASE UNDER RCW 10.77.150 IS APPROPRIATE

The Trial Court deferred in the last sentence of its responsive letter of September 10, 2015, on the issue of appointment of counsel. (CP 6, 17) Appellant contends the trial judge erred in waiting to do so and cites RCW 10.77.020(1)<sup>3</sup> as the only authority on this issue. A cursory or literal reading of that statute may suggest the same. However, when one analyzes this statute in the context of a Conditional Release proceeding, the trial judge's deferral on any counsel appointment makes much sense. RCW 10.77.020(1) provides in pertinent part, as follows:

(1) At any and all stages of the proceedings pursuant to this chapter, any person subject to the provisions of this chapter shall be entitled to the assistance of counsel, and if the person is indigent the court shall appoint counsel to assist him or her. ...

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See also, *State v. Elgin*, 118 Wn.2d 551, 555, 825 P.2d 314 (1992), relating to avoiding a literal reading of a statute which results in an absurd, unlikely or strained interpretation which is cited in *State v. Yakima County Commissioners*, 123 Wn.2d 451, 869 P. 2d 56 (1994), *infra*.

Initially, one might think that the request to contact ESH as the trial judge suggests in his September 10, 2015, letter (CP 6) is a "proceeding under this chapter." Respondent suggests this is not a proceeding as what occurred here is merely the filing of a pro se motion under such that should not in and of itself warrant appointment of counsel. Appellant then does not follow the Court's direction as to what should be done next, nor does Appellant seek any clarification of the relevant process before "appealing." Under the broadest reading of RCW 10.77.020(1), as suggested by Appellant, a defendant would appear to have a right to counsel the entire time he or she is committed pursuant to RCW 10.77, yet this would appear to be absurd and not what our legislature intended when a "proceeding" is not pending. Respondent notes in State v. Yakima Commissioners, 123 Wn.2d 451, 869 P.2d 56 (1994), our Supreme Court stated:

This court has the ultimate authority to determine the meaning and purpose of a statute. *Multicare Med. Ctr. v. Department of Social & Health Servs.*, 114 Wn.2d 572, 582 n. 15, 790 P.2d 124 (1990). Our paramount duty in statutory interpretation is to give effect to the Legislature's intent. *WPPSS v. General Elec. Co.*, 113 Wn.2d 288, 292, 778 P.2d 1047 (1989). We avoid a literal reading of a statute if it would result

in unlikely, absurd, or strained consequences. *State v. Neher*, 112 Wn.2d 347, 351, 771 P.2d 330 (1989). "The spirit or purpose of an enactment should prevail over the express but inept wording." *State v. Day*, 96 Wn.2d 646, 648, 638 P.2d 546 (1981).

### 123 Wn.2d at 462.

Respondent suggests when this Court construes RCW 10.77.020(1) an "absurd" or "strained" result be avoided such as that advocated by Appellant.

Additionally, the term "proceeding" is not defined in RCW 10.77.020 or in that chapter's definitional section, RCW 10.77.010. Thus, one must search elsewhere to determine that meaning.

For example, Merriam Webster's Learner's Dictionary defines "proceedings" as: "law: the process of appearing before a court of law so a decision can be made about an argument or claim: in a legal action." <a href="http://learnersdictionary.com/definition/Proceedings">http://learnersdictionary.com/definition/Proceedings</a>.

Respondent looks to RCW 2.43.020(3), regarding what a "legal proceeding" is, that statute provides the following:

RCW 2.43.020 - Definitions.

. . .

(3) "Legal proceeding" means a proceeding in any court in this state, grand jury hearing, or hearing before an inquiry judge, or before an administrative board, commission, agency, or licensing body of the state or any political subdivision thereof.

Further, this definition was relatively recently construed in *Kustura v. Labor of Industries*, 169 Wn.2d 81, 233 P.3d 853 (2010), where our Supreme Court stated:

... Thus, for an LEP (limited English Proficiency) individual to have a statutory right to interpreter services at government expense, the government action must (1) be initiated by the government entity and (2) satisfy the definition of a "legal proceeding." If the government action is not a legal proceeding or if a legal proceeding is initiated by an LEP, the LEP bears the cost of interpreter services. RCW 2.43.040(3).5

169 Wn.2d at 89.

The Court does note in footnote 5 at 169 Wn.2d at 89 it does not discuss what input indigency may have on a person's rights under RCW 2.43 relating to court interpreters.

It also is appropriate to look at the notion of whether the situation in the case at bar is a "critical stage of the proceedings" as set forth in *State v. Durnell*, 16 Wn. App. 500, 558 P.2d 252 (1976). There, the Court stated:

... A 'critical stage' is one in which there exists a possibility a defendant could be prejudiced in the defense of his case. *Garrison v. Rhay*, 75 Wash.2d 98, 449 P.2d 92 (1968). More specifically, it is one 'in which a defendant's rights may be lost, defenses waived, privileges claimed or waived, or in which the outcome of the case is otherwise substantially affected.' *State v. Agtuca*, 12 Wash.App. 402, 404, 529 P.2d 1159, 1161 (1974).

### 16 Wn. App. At 502.

Respondent suggests that, by analogy, the Appellant is attempting to initiate a matter and he would not appear to have a "right" to an interpreter and the pro se motion as set forth is not a "critical stage of the proceedings."

Importantly, his complaint under RCW 10.77.110 (acquittal of crime by insanity) is civil in nature as he is in the state hospital for treatment and not punishment and would ultimately be entitled to discharge no later than the statutory maximum of the (10) years for second degree assault whether he can establish prior to that time he is

entitled to a conditional release, a more general release or no release. (CP1-5) Should he prove to a Court's satisfaction he is no longer mentally ill, for example, he could be discharged. See *State v. Platt*, 143 Wn.2d 242. 252, 19 P.3d 412 (2001); *State v. Reid*, 144 Wn.2d 621, 631, 30 P.3d 465 (2001). However, he had no evidence as of September, 2015 when Appellant sent the letter to Judge Cozza to establish a realistic basis for release. See footnote 7, *infra* (p. 13).

Respondent strongly and respectfully contends this matter is not a "legal proceeding" and that Appellant would not necessarily be entitled to counsel at public expense under these circumstances even should it be deemed a "legal proceeding" since he is initiating it and he is a not guilty by reason of insanity, acquitted, and is not a "criminal defendant" in the legal sense.

Here, the "judgment" in the case finding Appellant not guilty by reason of insanity had already been in existence for over two (2) years at the time of his letter to Judge Cozza. There was not a "proceeding" pending, nor did Appellant's letter and material sent to the Court in September, 2015 amount to a "legal proceeding." Respondent suggests RCW 2.43 cited is similar to an analogous to the

situation here and is consistent with what right(s) Appellant has with regard to appointment of counsel under these facts.

Further, unlike a right to a trial or a certain hearing, Appellant's "right" to a hearing was dependent upon the discretion of Judge Cozza. Most recently, *State v. Howland*, 180 Wn. App. 196, 321 P.3d 303 (2014), noted that a petition by an individual without approval of the Secretary for a Conditional Release, as in this case, the discretion as to whether to convene such a hearing is up to the Court. *Howland*, *supra*, at 204 citing *State v. Platt*, 143 Wn.2d 242. 248, 19 P.3d 412 (2001). Appellant is not entitled to a "hearing for a hearing's sake" or counsel at public expense anytime he desires it. Thus, this situation is far different from counsel at a dispositive hearing, jury or bench trial, which would be required under statutory or constitutional law. Here, the trial judge should be able to see what the Secretary's positon is and what the petition's status is before deciding to go forward with such hearing(s), appointing counsel, and when to do so.

It is <u>reasonable</u> and <u>discretionary</u> for the Court to desire more preliminary information before deciding whether to appoint counsel or to convene a hearing.

Appellant attempts to "bootstrap" his Conditional Release Motion (CP 11) into the more general "release" statute, RCW 10.77.200. Yet, as the Appellate Court Commissioner aptly noted in her decision as follows:

Here Mr. Fletcher petitioned for Conditional Release, and, therefore, the case specific statute–RCW 10.77.150 – applies. See *State v. Howland*, 180 Wn. App. 196, 321 P.3d 303 (2014)<sup>4</sup>

Additionally, had RCW 10.77.200 been the statute under which Appellant wished to proceed, there is no proof within this record that RCW 10.77.200(5) was strictly followed. There is no record of the required notice to ESH.<sup>5</sup> Given these circumstances, it appears that if Appellant could proceed under RCW 10.77.200 and if Appellant had that specifically in mind, Appellant could and should have advised the judge of such as it was certainly reasonable for the

<sup>4</sup> Court Commissioner Wasson's March 15, 2015, ruling, page 2, first full paragraph.

There is nothing within with the Clerk's Papers submitted by the Appellant – or otherwise - which indicates notice to ESH was given as required. Appellant (supposedly) copies in his letter (CP 21), to two (2) the deputy prosecutors -- Debby Kurbitz and Tony Hazel – and to ESH Officials along with Assistant Public Defender Amy Sullivan. Nothing in the Court file reflects this actually being transmitted to all listed. In fact, ESH did not receive the correspondence per a record check for Appellant's letter to Judge Cozza.

trial judge to respond as he did under the circumstances with sending a copy of RCW 10.77.150, to the Appellant as occurred here.

## B. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN IT DID NOT DIRECT THE DSHS SECRETARY TO DEVELOP A CONDITIONAL RELEASE PLAN IN SEPTEMBER 2015

When the trial judge responded to Appellant's letter on September 10, 2015, at that time it was uncertain whether Appellant would proceed to advise DSHS as suggested in the September 10, 2015, letter,<sup>6</sup> drop the matter, seek counsel on his own, or directly through the Spokane County Public Defender's Office, proceed pro se, go to the people at ESH as Judge Cozza suggested in his responsive letter (CP 6, 17) or seek additional information as to what he would do. The trial judge probably anticipated Appellant would obtain a report from ESH when he wrote the September 10, 2015, letter if Appellant contacted DSHS as noted in that letter. At that point, there was no reason for the trial judge to direct the DSHS Secretary to prepare any report under RCW 10.77.150. It was clear the trial judge believed Appellant must make application under 10.77.150 (1) for his Conditional Release and as a courtesy provided that statute to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> CP 6, 17 with enclosed CP 18 and 19 (RCW 10.77.150).

Appellant with his letter. There was no reason for the trial judge to direct a report from DSHS on September 10, 2015, when the trial judge responded to Appellant.<sup>7</sup>

## C. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN NO DATE FOR A CONDITIONAL RELEASE HEARING WAS SET

As noted earlier, the setting of such a hearing is largely discretionary with the Court. *State v. Platt*, 143 Wn.2d 242, 248, 19 P.3d 412 (2001). There is nothing within the law or good sense which would require a trial judge to set a hearing just because the NGRI detainee would like to have a hearing when there is nothing to suggest the DSHS Secretary or ESH would recommend a Conditional Release or potentially more as is conceivably the case under RCW 10.77.200. This is underscored by the Secretary's April 28, 2015 and May 27, 2016, six (6) month reports showing no obvious or tenable reason for such a review hearing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Until May 27, 2016, the last report pursuant to RCW 10.77.140 from DSHS Secretary at ESH was dated April 28, 2015, and attached as Appendix 2, pp. 1-4 to Respondent's Memorandum Objecting to Review filed February 24, 2016. The May 27, 2016, report is attached herewith as an Appendix to this document and a copy was forwarded to Appellant's counsel on June 3, 2016. Both versions essentially contend a Conditional Release is not appropriate.

Such would not be a good use of resources and is why such Courts are given necessary discretion with regard to holding hearings under RCW 10.77. The facts here have not "triggered" RCW 10.77.150(2), RCW 10.77.150(3), RCW 10.77.200(1)-(3). There is nothing in these facts to suggest the judge abused his discretion, a high standard requiring a manifestly unreasonable action or an action exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971).8

### D. NEITHER PARTY SHOULD BE AWARDED COSTS REGARDLESS OF THE ULTIMATE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

As Appellant notes in his brief on page 5, neither party has substantially prevailed in this case to date. The Commissioner's decision to date is not what either party requested by way of earlier briefing and the Discretionary Review Hearing of March 2, 2016.

Further, unlike many decisions an Appellate Court must make as to costs under RAP 14.2, in the case at bar those costs are likely far

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Please note that at least since 2010, the Public Safety Review Panel has a role in most circumstances regarding such Conditional Release requests. RCW 10.77.270(1)(a), RCW 10.77.270(3), and RCW 10.77.270(4). This is not even discussed by Appellant.

less than in most cases. Both sides of this litigation are being paid at public expense. Therefore, the parties have agreed neither side will request costs from the other before this Court.

### IV. CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully suggests the trial judge's decision as incorporated in his letter of September 10, 2015, be affirmed.

Respondent notes there has been no abuse of discretion in how the trial judge handled the Appellant's referral. The trial judge merely stated an orderly process which within his discretion could ultimately result in a review hearing under RCW 10.77.150 or his seeing, within his discretion, no reason to conduct one or to appoint counsel.